



#### HTR-N & N1 High-Temperature Reactor Physics and Fuel Cycle Studies (EC-funded Projects: FIKI-CT-2000-00020 & FIKI-CT-2001-00169)

Work Package: HTR-N project document No.: 3 Q.A. level: 1 / 2 HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3 **Document status:** 3.2.3 **Document type:** Task: Deliverable draft Rev. original document No.: Annex pg. Q.A. level Discomination loval. Issued by: 0 0 B IKE **Document Title** U based fuel and maximum power size Author(s) W. Bernnat, M. Mattes, J. Keinert, N. Ben Said bernnat@ike.uni-stuttgart.de; Organisation, Country **IKE**, University of Stuttgart **Pfaffenwaldring 31** 70550 Stuttgart, Germany Notes Electronic filing: Electronic file format: SINTER Microsoft Word 97 Z JCK MD 1 20.10.2004 Final issue IKE NRG FZJ 0 09.08.2004 First issue J.C. Kuijper w. Bernnat W. von Lensa Control Approval Rev. **Short Description** Prepared by Partners' Review Date WP Manager Project Manager confidential information property of the HTR-N project - not to be used for any purpose other than that for which is supplied



Work Package: 3		3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Tack	3.2.3		Document type:	
1d5K.			Deliverable	

## Chronology and history of revisions

Rev.	Date	Description
0	00.08.2004	
0	09.08.2004	First issue
1	20.10.2004	Final issue



Work Package: 3		3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Tack	2 2 2		Document type:	
1055.	3.2.3		Deliverable	

#### **DISTRIBUTION**

EXTERNAL (SINTER database)

**HTR-N** Partners HTR-N Coordinator

(3 printed copies)

INTERNAL, IKE

G. Lohnert M. Bürger W. Scheuermann



Work Package: 3		3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Tack	2 2 2		Document type:	
1055.	3.2.3		Deliverable	

## U based fuel and maximum power size

## Deliverable

W. Bernnat M. Mattes J. Keinert N. Ben Said

Stuttgart, 20 October 2004

Under the contract of the European Union (5th Framework Program) no. FIKI-CT-2000-00020.

rev. n	o date	description
В	20.10.2004	Final issue
А	09.08.2004	First issue
	At	
author :	W. Bernnat	reviewed : J.C.Kuijper JCK
1		Approved:
HTR-N-04	4-06-D-3.2.3	



Work Package: 3		3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Tack	2 2 2 2		Document type:	
1055.	3.2.3		Deliverable	

Table of contents

ABSTRACT	8
1.Introduction	9
2. Computer Codes and methodology	. 10
2.1 ZIRKUS modular system	. 11
2.2. Method for simulation of Xe behaviour	14
3. Results	. 15
3.1. Cylindrical cores	. 15
3.2.1. DLOCA case	25
3.2.2. PLOCA case	26
3.3. Limitation of core height due to Xe-transients	29
4. Quantitative comparison of design options	31
5. The temperature of structures and their impact on the design performance	34
6. Conclusions	. 35
7. References	36



Work Package: 3		3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

List of figures

Fig. 1: Zone subdivision of MODUL reactor with 200 MWth (zones 1-72 burnup zones)
Fig. 2: Relative power distribution in HTR Module in equilibrium cycle (200 MWth). 17
Fig. 3: Thermal flux distribution in HTR Module in equilibrium cycle (200 MWth) 17
Fig. 4: Maximum fuel temperature as a function of time after depressurisation for
different recycle passes for MODUL (200 MWth) 18
Fig. 5: Temperature distribution 10,000 s after depressurisation for MODUL (200
MWth) with 15 recycle passes and 80.000 MWd/t U 18
Fig. 6: Temperature distribution 125,000 s after depressurisation for MODUL (200
MWth) with 15 recycle passes and 80,000 MWd/t U 19
Fig. 7: Maximum fuel temperature after depressurisation for MODUL 200 MWth,
80.000 MWd/t U, as a function of recycle passes
Fig. 8: Peak factors for MODUL 200 MWth, 80.000 MWd/t U, as a function of recycle
passes
Fig. 9: Temperature coefficients for fuel for different U-loading : 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 g U/Pebble
Fig. 10: Temperature coefficients for moderator for different U-loading : 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 g
U/Pebble
Fig. 11: Moderator coefficient as a function of Xe inventary (Xe 1 means Xe equilibrium
at nominal conditions)
Fig. 12: Reactivity change due to water ingress for different U load: 6 – 10 g U/pebble 22
Fig. 13: Geometrical sketch of the reference design
Fig. 14: Solid temperature profile at the point when the maximum temperature is
obtained in the DLOCA case for the annular core design with solid graphite middle
column
Fig. 15: Comparison of maximum fuel temperature (left) and axial position of the hot
spot (right) versus time for designs with annular core in the DLOCA case
Fig. 16: Gas velocity (arrows) and gas temperature (colour shade) distributions at
different times in the PLOCA case for the annular core design with dynamic middle
column
Fig. 17: Gas velocity (arrows) and gas temperature (colour shade) distributions at
different times in the PLOCA case for the annular core design with compact middle
column
Fig. 18: Comparison of maximum fuel temperature (left) and axial position of the hot
spot (right) versus time for designs with annular core in the PLOCA case
Fig. 19: HTR-Module: relative Xenon concentration for various core heights
Fig. 20: HTR-Module: Rod positions to balance Xenon oscillations
Fig. 21: Thermal power versus diameter of the middle column
Fig. 22: Comparison of maximum fuel temperature (left) and maximum RPV
temperature (right) versus time for the reference geometry cases and for the case
with optimised insulation



List of tables

Table 1: Overview of major design parameters for selected modular high tempera	ture
reactor concepts.	9
Table 2: ZIRKUS modular sequence for HTR calculations	11
Table 3: Core layout and operational data for the reference design	24
Table 4: Major design parameters and maximum achievable thermal power for	
different reactor designs considered for the comparison	32
Table 5: Results which characterise the design geometry	33

Rev.



#### ABSTRACT

The decay heat removal capabilities are an important safety feature of the Modular Pebble Bed HTR. The reactor can be designed and optimised that even under loss of cooling accidents the decay heat can be removed by passive means without exceeding defined temperature limits for fuel and structure components. Such a design yields limitation of power output, however. The optimisation of power under constraints of limitation of fuel and structure temperature is an important task, therefore.

Several designs with cylindrical and annular cores were investigated assuming both Pressurised and Depressurised Loss of Coolant Accidents. The ZIRKUS program system was Used for the calculation of the neutronics and thermal-hydraulics calculations.

ZIRKUS contains the THERMIX-KONVEK thermal hydraulics module for the PLOCA and DLOCA analysis.

Annular Cores can produce higher power output without exceeding fuel temperature limits during DLOCA accidents, since heat storage effect of the inner fuel free column have an influence on the maximum fuel temperature by increasing the time at which this temperature is reached.

A thermal isolation of the core can decrease the maximum temperature of the pressure vessel during LOCA. Optimum is reached if both maximum temperature of fuel and RPV remains beyond corresponding limits.



## 1.Introduction

Increasing the power of the reactor unit is the most effective way to reduce the electricity costs of modular pebble bed High Temperature Reactor power plants [1]. Doing this while keeping the feature of inherent safety is a complex optimisation process of operating data, the core geometry and configuration of structures. The range of design parameters is limited by physical requirements (e.g. ability to shutdown with reflector rods, removal of the decay heat from the core by passive means, stability against Xenon oscillations ...) and technical-economical constraints e.g., (the size and manufacture technology of the reactor pressure vessel, technology used for compensating the pressure drop over the system etc.).

This resulted in diverse design concepts. The majors of the concretised concepts for the modular pebble bed HTR are summarised in Table 1. The HTR-MODULE [2] was the first reactor in which the concept of inherent safety was rigorously implemented. The PBMR-400 [3] represents the most current design.

Reactor	HTR-MODUL	PBMR-302	PBMR-400
Thermal power [MW]	200	302	400
Core layout	Cylindrical	Annular core with	Annular core with
		dynamic middle	compact middle
		column	column
Outer diameter of core	3	3.7	3.7
[m]			
Inner diameter of core	-	2	2
[m]			
Height of core [m]	9.4	9.3	11
Diameter of RPV [m]	6	6.2	6.2
Inlet-/Outlet temperature	250 / 700	500 / 900	500 / 900
[°C]			
Coolant	Helium	Helium	Helium

Table 1:	Overview of major design parameters for selected modular high temperature reactor
	concepts.

The relevant design proposals in the literature can be classified to mainly three options with regard to the core layout:

- core with cylinder geometry,
- annular core with dynamic inner column of graphite pebbles,
- annular core with compact inner graphite column.

Here these diverse design options for the modular pebble bed HTR are discussed with respect to their performance during accidents with passive decay heat removal.

	ckage:	3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.	
	Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

This is done by means of calculations using the ZIRKUS-System and THERMIX/KONVEK code [4, 5]. It models the steady state or time dependent thermal hydraulic behaviour of high temperature reactors in two-dimensional cylindrical geometry. The global solid temperature distribution and the coolant gas flow field are calculated, taking into account heat transport via heat conduction and radiation, as well heat transport and transfer by forced or natural convection. The modelling in THERMIX/KONVEK is based on a porous media approach which involves the solution of the time dependent energy conservation equation for the solid, the quasi-steady mass- and energy conservation equations as well as a simplified (Ergun-type with buoyancy) momentum conservation equation for the gas together with an appropriate set of constitutive equations, e.g. for effective heat conductivity, pressure drop and heat transfer.

In a first step, the characteristic behaviour during **P**ressurised and **D**epressurised Loss **O**f Coolant Accidents (PLOCA and DLOCA) was analysed in detail. This is done for a reference reactor design with annular core, which was chosen here for comparison and benchmarking purposes. It does not directly correspond to an existing or actually proposed design, although major geometrical parameters are similar to other design proposals (derived from technical and physical constraints). The PLOCA and DLOCA cases are used to analyse and compare the design options with compact and dynamic middle column.

In order to investigate the potential of achieving higher power while bounding maximum fuel temperatures in order to ensure the safe inclusion of fission products, different core layouts, including cylindrical and annular core geometries, are then compared quantitatively. Analyses are done here for the DLOCA case only, since it imposes the strongest requirements on the decay heat removal capacities.

In a next step, the analysis was extended, in addition to the maximum fuel temperature, to include further criteria which determine the safety of the pebble bed HTR, particularly the maximum temperature to ensure the thermal integrity of the **R**eactor **P**ressure **V**essel (RPV). For the chosen design, it is shown that a thermal insulation is beneficial, in spite of its effect of increasing maximum fuel temperatures. As an example, it is demonstrated how the code analyses can be used to optimise design parameters (in this case insulation thickness) which maximise the achievable thermal power while fulfilling the constraints of maximum fuel and RPV temperatures.

## 2. Computer Codes and methodology

The ZIRKUS [5] program system was used developed by **FRAMATOME ANP** GmbH for HTR analysis. This program system has a modular structure and allows the coupled calculation of power distribution (neutronics), burn-up, refuelling and thermal-hydraulics. For thermal-hydraulics the **FRAMATOME ANP** version of THERMIX and IKE module FRECON [6] are used. For heat-up during a depressurisation accident also the SCALE/HEATING-7 [7] module and for calculation of control rod values the MORSE [8], KENO-VI [9] and MCNP [10] Monte Carlo codes will be used.

Work Package:	3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task: 3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

#### 2.1 ZIRKUS modular system

The ZIRKUS modular system contains many modules for different tasks and a general data base for exchange of data between the modules. By means of a control monitor modular sequences can be formulated and executed in a flexible way. The main modules of ZIRKUS are following:

- Microscopic cross section processing module: MICROX
- Dancoff factors for double heterogeneous system: NEWA
- Initialisation of fuel data for burnup steps: KUGEL
- Initialisation of mesh nets for diffusion, thermal-hydraulics and burn-up calculations
- Calculation of macroscopic Cross sections: MAGRU
- Refuelling module for different strategies: NIVERM
- Neutron diffusion calculation: HBLOCK
- Calculation of bucklings for spectral zones: BUCK
- Burnup steps: SBURN
- Fast temperature calculations for spectral zones: NECKAR
- Detailed thermal-hydraulic analysis: THERMIX/KONVEK
- Interface for more accurate thermal-hydraulic calculations: VORNEK
- Calculation of afterheat for transients: NZW

A typical sequence of ZIRKUS calculations is shown in Tab.2. The input of every module in the sequence is pre defined as well as the data base transfers. A control sequence consists in control words subsequently calling corresponding modules. The monitor allows to execute different control sequences defined by names.

#### Table 2: ZIRKUS modular sequence for HTR calculations

KUGEL
NIVERM
NEWA
MICROX
MAGRU
HBLOCK
VORNEK
BUCK
NECKAR (THERMIX)
SBURN
NWZ

Work Package: 3		HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task: 3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

#### • KUGEL

This module calculates the cell concentrations and the volume shares of each material, for every type of spherical fuel element with coated particles introduced in the reactor core.

#### • NIVERM

Calculates the number densities for each cycle of each type of fuel element in core, the reload of the fresh fuel elements, the mean number densities for all burn up zones, the charge/discharge masses and the inventory of the nuclides. For every burn up zone and for every fuel cycle there are tree isotope vectors: one for the upper boundary of the burn up zone, one for the lower boundary of the burn up zone and one corresponding to the average values of the two previous vectors. This is repeated for each zone with the exception of the first axial upper zones where this vector is calculated over a whole burn up computation. These concentration records are then used for the calculation of cross sections for NEWA, the module which calculates Dancoff-factors and to MICROX and MAGRU, while the first two isotopes vectors are passed throw the burn up module for every cycle and are subsequently transferred back to NIVERM. The vector of the upper isotopes concentrations are burnt down in the flux of each zone while the vector of the bottom limit are burnt with the same flux of the adjacent zone below.

#### • MICROX

The GAA code MICROX [11] calculates in a two zones model the fast slowing down density spectrum and the thermal flux density spectrum. In every zone the code solves the neutron slowing down and the thermalisation equation on a detailed energy grid of a lattice cell, where it considers two regions: one representing the fuel grains with coating and binder, and the other representing the moderator. The fluxes in the two regions are then coupled by collision probabilities based on the flat flux approximation A second level of heterogeneity can be treated, i. e., the fuel region may have grain structure up to two different types of fuel particles. The coupling between the single fuel elements is realised with the Dancoff-Ginsburg factor (calculated by module NEWA).

The nuclear MICROX data have in fast energy range GAM energy structure (99 fine groups in the energy zone from 14.9 MeV to 0.414 MeV) and in the thermal energy range GATHER structure (101 energy groups up to 2.38 eV). To take into account the thermal scattering of neutrons in graphite, the fast/thermal energy boundary is here set at 2.38 eV. For the absorbers in resonance region (like Th232, U238, Pu240) there is ultra fine representation of cross sections between 0.4 eV and 3.5 keV for a set of temperatures. After spectral calculation MICROX finally condenses macroscopic and microscopic groups constants to few groups cross sections as specified for neutronics calculations.

• MAGRU

The scope of the module MAGRU is the calculation of the macroscopic cross section for each burn up zone. For this task it uses the set of average number densities delivered from NIVERM and the set of microscopic cross sections from MICROX. Moreover it calculates the diffusion constant according to BEHRENS to take into account streaming effects in pebble bed core [12].

Work Package:	3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task: 3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

#### • HBLOCK

The diffusion code HBLOCK [13] calculates the neutron flux distribution in the core and the eigenvalue  $k_{eff}$ . It solves the diffusion equation by a coarse mesh method, characterised as following:

- A linear equation system for distinct flux values with nodal points of a R-Z grid is formulated. Each node can contain at most for four materials (original equations system and original mesh).
- On transferring to the coarse mesh equations, the most part of the original equations are in general omitted the differential operator div D grad is formulated as usual in a five points difference notation. and auxiliary assumptions are made to enable the solution of the remaining equations. The deletion of any equations occurs so that the crossing lines on the original grid are defined as coarse mesh lines and the equations are selected in order to delete the source terms that not belong to the points of the coarse grid lines.
- The transversal leakage is here determined by a spatial linear interpolation from the respective leakage of each nodal point of the "coarse lines".
- The cavity between pebble bed core and top reflector is here simulated with an effective diffusion constant, dependent from the direction.

#### • VORNEK

This module's objective is the determination of the power density distribution, of the fuel element power (averaged over all the fuel element at each place), the fast neutron dose and the mean normalised neutron fluxes in each burn up zone for the subsequent burn up calculations of the module SBURN. The field of the power density can also be axially smoothed (i.e., discontinuity at the limit of the burn up zones of the fission cross sections can be approximated with the method of the last squared errors and as fission cross sections are assigned at each case the cross sections values in the middle of the zone).

#### • BUCK

BUCK calculates bucklings for spectral zones from Flux distribution calculated by diffusion module HBLOCK. The bucklings are used for spectral calculation in MICROX. By means of an iterative application the cross sections calculated for spectral zones are consistently weighted so that four or seven energy groups are sufficient for the solution of whole core diffusion equation.

• NZW

NZW calculates the afterheat distribution and U-239 and NP-239 number density as a function of time for the simulated power history. The calculation scheme is according to DIN 25485E [14]. It uses data calculated from NIVERM and SBURN as well as data pre-calculated from ORIGEN2 with a special cross section library condensed over core spectra.

Work Package: 3		HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task: 3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

#### • NECKAR

NECKAR is a fast running thermal-hydraulic code for the determination of average fuel and moderator temperatures of spectral zones of MODUL type reactors.

#### • THERMIX/FRECON

These modules calculate 2D stationary and transient solid and gas temperature distribution for a pebble bed reactor . THERMIX is the **FRAMATOME ANP** version of the THERMIX code developed by **FZJ**. FRECON was developed at **IKE** and used for both thermal-hydraulic calculations for pebble bed reactors and in an extended version also for calculation of core cooling of LWR under accidental conditions.

#### • SBURN

This module calculates the propagation of number densities during a burnup step for a reduced 69 isotope chain model taking into account the not explicitly treated isotopes by means of four pseudo fission products using neutron flux densities calculated from HBLOCK. The burnup steps were performed for all burnup zones (for top middle bottom and of zone) for every pass of pebbles through the core.

#### • KENO-VI

This code is a multigroup Monte Carlo code which is used for the calculation of threedimensional problems such as control rod values or reactivity coefficients. The multigroup data were processed by MICROX with maximum possible group number 193 or by IKE system RESMOD/RESAB/RSYST with 292 energy groups. The number densities for the preparation of macroscopic cross sections will be taken from SBURN/NIVERM for the burnup zones. The cross sections for reflector and control rods are prepared mainly by RESMOD/RSYST.

• MCNP

For comparisons with deterministic solutions MCNP calculations with the continuous energy cross section representation for the double heterogeneous system were performed. The number densities were taken from SBURN/NIVERM again.

#### 2.2. Method for simulation of Xe behaviour

The simulation of Xe behavior in a pebble bed HTR can be performed by means of at least two-dimensional coupled neutronics, thermal-hydraulics and burn-up calculations. Due to the expected slow transients a quasi-stationary approach can be used for these calculations. For the neutronics calculations first the core conditions for which the detailed Xe transients will be investigated must be defined. These conditions can be determined by performing of a set of coupled stationary neutronics, thermal hydraulics and burn-up calculations for a distinct reload strategy for the pebbles together with the simulation of the flow of pebbles through the core.

	nckage: 3		HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.	
	Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

For these calculations the program system ZIRKUS will be used which contains program modules for all steps of such coupled calculations. The type of fuel, the pebble flow pattern and the design data of core and the thermal hydraulic parameters as well must be defined for these calculations. The results of these calculations are the zone wise core composition (number densities), temperature distribution, critical control rod position etc. The starting conditions of the Xe transients will be the full power at Xe equilibrium. The Xe transients will be excited by a perturbation of power distribution caused by a movement of the control rods. For the Xe analysis the program system ZIRKUS can be used (as for the calculation of the core conditions) with small time steps to simulate the detailed buildup and decay of iodine and xenon and its influence to power distribution.

## 3. Results

#### 3.1. Cylindrical cores

The main activity of the first work for this work package was the implementation of all modules described and performing of test calculations. The reference reactor was the MODUL with 200MWth [15]. The burnup 80.000 MWD/t U. The uranium content of one fuel element was 7.0 g, the enrichment 7.87 % U-235. The mesh grid for the burnup and neutronics calculation is shown by Fig. 1, the corresponding relative power distribution and thermal flux distribution can be seen from Figs. 2 and 3 respectively. For this reactor design the maximum fuel temperature after a depressurisation accident was analysed for different MEDUL passes. For every number of passes from 5 to 15 the equilibrium state was calculated by ZIRKUS. Then the afterheat distribution calculated by module NWZ of ZIRKUS was passed to the transient heat conducting program HEATING-7 of the SCALE system. It was conservatively assumed, that there was a prompt depressurisation. The propagation of maximum fuel temperature with time is shown in Fig. 4. From this figure one can see the advantage of MODUL since the maximum fuel temperature even after depressurisation is limited. This maximum temperature, however is dependent from fuel cycle passes. The development of temperature after the depressurisation is shown in Figs. 5 and 6 for two time points after beginning of accident. In Fig. 7 the final result: maximum fuel temperature as a function of recycle passes is shown. The larger the number of passes the lower the maximum temperature. This fact can be used for optimisation since the reactor nominal power can be increased if the number of passes is increased without increase of maximum fuel temperature. In Fig. 8 the peak factor of power distribution is shown as a function of recycle passes.



Work Package: 3		3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Teela			Document type:	
Task:	5.2.5		Deliverable	

<u> </u>		10 11			-			105		107	108	109	
1	9	17	25	33	42		-						
z	10	18	25	34		51	61	100	114	102	103	104	
3	11				43	52	62						
		19	27	3	44	53	63	85		97	98	<b>39</b>	
4	12	20	28	35	45	54	64		30 				
5	13	21	29	37	46	55	65	90	91	92	93	94	113
6	14	22	30	33	47	55	66						
	15	, 	, 	╷┈ ┠ ╗┥	48	। इन्	67	85	35	87	88	89	
			╶╎ ┥ ┍┈╼ ╭╶╺	ہ ل ا ا ا ا ا ا ا	╷┟ ╷ ┌┈ ╭╴		65 69 0	80	81	82	83	84	
				72			73	75	76	77	78	79	

Fig. 1: Zone subdivision of MODUL reactor with 200 MWth (zones 1-72 burnup zones)

Work Package: 3		3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	



Fig. 2: Relative power distribution in HTR Module in equilibrium cycle (200 MWth)









Fig. 4: Maximum fuel temperature as a function of time after depressurisation for different recycle passes for MODUL (200 MWth)



Fig. 5: Temperature distribution 10,000 s after depressurisation for MODUL (200 MWth) with 15 recycle passes and 80.000 MWd/t U



Fig. 6: Temperature distribution 125,000 s after depressurisation for MODUL (200 MWth) with 15 recycle passes and 80,000 MWd/t U



Fig. 7: Maximum fuel temperature after depressurisation for MODUL 200 MWth, 80.000 MWd/t U, as a function of recycle passes



number of fuel element passes

Fig. 8: Peak factors for MODUL 200 MWth, 80.000 MWd/t U, as a function of recycle passes

The further characteristics of HTR cores are safety related parameters such as reactivity coefficients of moderator and fuel temperature and reactivity changes due to water ingress (if it has to be regarded under accidental conditions). The temperature coefficients are strongly dependent from U-load as it is seen in Figs. 9 and 10 for fuel and moderator coefficients respectively for 6-10 g U/pebble. Furthermore, in Fig. 11, the dependency of the moderator coefficient from Xe-inventory is shown. Fig. 12 shows the reactivity increase due to water ingress for different U loads/pebble. It is clear to identify that for high U-loads (>78 U/pebble) the reactivity increase is very large due to the strongly under moderated core. If water ingress (large amounts of water) cannot be excluded, the core must be designed correspondingly.

Work Package: 3			HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	



Fig. 9: Temperature coefficients for fuel for different U-loading : 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 g U/Pebble







Work Package: 3			HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

3.00 2.00 1.00 Moderator temperature coefficient [ pcm ] 0.00 -1.00 -2.00 -3.00 × -4.00 -5.00 -6.00 -7.00 -8.00 -9.00 -10.00 -11.00 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 Temperature [K]

x Xenon 0,0 ■ Xenon 0,5 v Xenon 1,0 N Xenon 1,5 ▲ Xenon 2,0

Fig. 11: Moderator coefficient as a function of Xe inventary (Xe 1 means Xe equilibrium at nominal conditions)



Fig. 12: Reactivity change due to water ingress for different U load: 6 – 10 g U/pebble

Work Pac	ckage:	3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

## 3.2. Analysis of Characteristic behaviour during LOC Accidents for annular cores

The ability to remove the decay heat without reaching fuel temperatures which could lead to a massive release of fission products under all possible scenarios is essential for inherent safety of HTRs. Scenarios with loss of the forced circulation are most challenging with this respect. For their analysis, it is important to take into account the thermal inertia and heat transfer resistances of relevant design elements, as well as proper initial and boundary conditions.

The calculations here are carried out for a reference reactor design. A sketch showing the basic structures and the major geometrical dimensions is given in Fig. 13. The emphasis here is not to investigate a specific given design, but rather to derive trends and to quantify the effect of design variations in the right order of magnitude. Therefore, the investigated layout has been partly simplified, concentrating on the major design elements. Key data have partly been borrowed from current concepts or follow from technical feasibility considerations. E.g., the core height has been limited to 11 m, motivated by considerations on stability against Xenon oscillations. The diameter of the RPV of 6.4 m has been chosen to be within economical and technical feasibility constraints. Two design variants with annular core are investigated in this section, for both a dynamic middle column and a compact middle graphite column. The core dimensions and the nominal operating conditions are given in Table 3.

The radial and axial shape of the power profile will clearly have an influence on the heat-up and thus the maximum fuel temperatures. However, the exact power profile at the occurrence of the accident depends on various factors such as the fuelling scheme, control rod position etc. and therefore can be optimised separately. In order to facilitate comparison and analyses, an approximate, simplified power distribution has been chosen for the calculations, assuming a flat radial distribution and a cosine-shaped axial distribution with a peak factor of 1.5. The temporal development is calculated with respect to the Way-Wigner approximation. For optimised designs ZIRKUS calculations were performed and the correct power and afterheat distributions were used.

As initial conditions for the analysed transients the steady (equilibrium or operating) states, calculated according to the values given in Table 3, are used. Boundary conditions are provided by the RCCS assumed to be the unique heat sink in the system at a constant temperature of 40°C during the transients.

For the material properties such as thermal conductivities, emissivities and specific heat capacities of helium, graphite, carbon and steel standard correlations or values have been used which were also applied in the HTR-MODULE case [16]. The effective heat conductivity of the pebble bed was evaluated according to the model of Zehner/Schlünder [17].





Fig. 13: Geometrical sketch of the reference design.

Table 3: Core layout and operational data for the reference design

Core inner diameter [m]	2
Core outer diameter [m]	3.7
RPV outer diameter [m]	6.4
Inlet temperature [°C]	500
Outlet temperature [°C]	900
Thermal power [MW]	425
Pressure [bar]	90
Helium mass flow rate	204.5
[kg/s]	

Work Package: 3		HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task: 3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

#### 3.2.1. DLOCA case

In this case failure of the circulation of coolant and a loss of pressure are assumed, e.g. due to the rupture of a main coolant pipe. The reactor is also supposed to be shut down. Due to the relatively low density of the coolant at atmospheric pressure (1 bar compared to 90 under pressure) the heat transfer through natural convection is negligible. For both designs under considerations, the behaviour is quite similar. The reactor starts to heat up due to the decay heat. The initial temperature profile under operating conditions, with maximum temperatures at the core exit, is transformed in an axially essentially symmetric profile imposed by the heat source distribution (see Fig. 14). The maximum temperatures in the core continuously increase, until they reach a maximum around 2,5 days (see Fig. 15), when the decreasing decay heat can be removed from the core region by heat conduction and radiation.

The time, when the maximum fuel temperature is approached, marks also a transition from transient to quasi-steady behaviour. This can especially be seen from the radial temperature profile in the core. During heat-up, the temperatures in the unheated middle column lag behind the temperatures in the annular core. When the maximum temperature is approached, the radial profile over the central column vanishes (see fig. 14). The subsequent cool-down then follows a quasi-steady behaviour, in which the developed temperature profile is practically maintained.



## Fig. 14: Solid temperature profile at the point when the maximum temperature is obtained in the DLOCA case for the annular core design with solid graphite middle column.

(Note that the top of the core corresponds to height 0m and the bottom to -11 m.)



Fig. 15: Comparison of maximum fuel temperature (left) and axial position of the hot spot (right) versus time for designs with annular core in the DLOCA case

For the DLOCA case, the differences between the designs with dynamic and fixed middle column are relatively small. The maximum fuel temperature remain within acceptable limits. The higher temperatures reached in the case with dynamic middle column is mainly caused by the lower thermal inertia of the pebbles compared to a massive graphite column. Thus, the maximum temperature is reached at an earlier time, when the decay heat to be removed is still at a higher level.

#### 3.2.2. PLOCA case

In this case a failure of the circulation of coolant is assumed and the reactor is supposed to be shut down but remains under pressure. A natural convection flow develops under the influence of driving temperature differences, which in contrast to the DLOCA case strongly affects the decay heat redistribution. This can be observed from the development calculated for the design with dynamic middle column given in Fig. 16 which shows the gas flow and temperature distribution at different times. Due to a large initial radial temperature gradient, which results from operational conditions with cooled middle column and hot core annulus, a strong natural circulation loop has developed after 4s. Helium rises in the outer hot annulus, heating up the upper parts, and flows downwards through the central part, releasing heat to the cold middle column. As a result, the hot spot moves from its initial position at the bottom towards the top of the core (see Fig. 18, left).



Fig. 16: Gas velocity (arrows) and gas temperature (colour shade) distributions at different times in the PLOCA case for the annular core design with dynamic middle column.

While the radial temperature difference between core and middle column is successively reduced, a second convection loop develops due to the increasing radial temperature gradient between core and reflector (see Fig. 16, middle), which is cooled by conduction and radiation. The heat flux redistributed through the two loops exceeds at around 2,6 h the local decay power in the hot spot region, resulting in the first peak and subsequent decrease of the maximum fuel temperatures given in Fig. 18.

Finally, the first circulation loop practically disappears due to the continuous heat up of the middle column (see Fig. 16, right). With only the reflector as major heat sink, the heat redistribution by convection is less effective. This leads to an at first renewed increase of the maximum temperature, until the core finally cools down with decreasing decay power (see Fig. 18).

In the design with compact middle column, the initial temperature distribution resulting from operating conditions shows no significant radial gradients. These just evolve from the heat up of the core. At first, two major loops exist, with hot gas rising in the center of the heated annulus and flowing down along the colder middle column and reflector (see Fig. 17, left). As the middle column is successively heated up, the inner loop diminishes and is displaced to the upper center. The long-term flow pattern is dominated by a loop with gas being heated while rising in the inner part of the core and partly along the middle column and releasing heat while sinking along the cooled reflector (see Fig. 17, right). The relatively large heat conductivity of the middle column (as compared to the core) affects the temperature distribution through axial conduction which flattens the axial temperature profile. As a result, the axial position of the hot spot remains close to the middle of the core, similar to the DLOCA case.

The larger heat capacity and axial heat conduction of the compact middle column, together with the lower starting value, leads to generally lower maximum temperatures for this design (see Fig. 18). For both designs the maximum temperatures reached in the PLOCA case are well below those reached in the DLOCA scenario.



Fig. 17: Gas velocity (arrows) and gas temperature (colour shade) distributions at different times in the PLOCA case for the annular core design with compact middle column.



Fig. 18: Comparison of maximum fuel temperature (left) and axial position of the hot spot (right) versus time for designs with annular core in the PLOCA case.

HTR-N Task:	ckage:	3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
	Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable

#### 3.3. Limitation of core height due to Xe-transients

For the pebble bed reactors with large core heights the stability of the power distribution in respect to Xe oscillations must be scrutinized and carefully investigated. For HTR designs, the increase of the core height is an obvious means to increase the power of the inherently safe modular HTR without sacrificing the maximal tolerable fuel temperature of 1600°C even in cases of a depressurization accident or rod expulsion scenarios. To reach a core power in the range of other modular HTR concepts, here, the core height must be higher than for cores with other reload strategies or designs. At least at the first sight economic reasons seem to dedicate this measure.

For large core heights, however, Xenon oscillations may be excited - e.g. by load following processes - which could cause undamped periodic changes in axial power distribution with increasing amplitude.

A control of this effects would require an active control of the axial power shape which would be in contradiction to the claimed inherent passive features of the modular HTR concept; apart from that it is difficult to imagine how such an axial power control could be realized in a modular HTR. No convincing technical solutions have been brought forward; probably they do not exist – even in principle.

It is reasonable, to require from the very beginning that the undamped Xenon oscillations must be absolutely excluded for any modular HTR. This requirement poses directly the question of the maximum allowable core height.

Therefore, before choosing a distinct core height, the conditions for stable conditions for both full power and reduced power (part load) must be investigated in detail to ascertain that unmapped Xenon oscillations during full power and part load operation are avoided, since these axial power oscillations would damage or even destroy the reactor fuel elements.

Such calculations were performed with both the ZIRKUS systems and the transient core simulation program RZKIND [18] developed from FANP. Examples of typical Xe oscillations are given in Fig. 19 (relative Xe-concentration at core top, core center and core bottom) and Fig. 20 (control rod positions) after a reduction of power from 100 % to 50 % and increase of power after 6 hours (if Xe-maximum is reached). The Fig. 20 shows that the amplitudes of the (damped) oscillations are dependent from core height; the higher the core the larger the amplitudes. The corresponding axial peak in power distribution must be considered to avoid too high fuel temperatures during operation.

Work Packa	age:	3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	



Fig. 19: HTR-Module: relative Xenon concentration for various core heights





<b>Task:</b> 3.2.3	Document type: Deliverable	

## 4. Quantitative comparison of design options

The purpose of this section is to quantitatively compare different designs. Such a comparison can of course not be unique, since the result will depend on the choice of conditions and evaluation criteria. Here, a systematic approach is chosen which complies with the general objective of the present paper, which is to investigate the potential to increase the thermal power of modular Pebble Bed HTRs without loosing inherent safety features. The maximum fuel temperature reached during DLOCA will be limited for all cases to the same value, considered to have a sufficient margin from the technological limit (about 1600 °C), for which the integrity of the fuel coatings has been proven experimentally. This value has been chosen corresponding to the maximum fuel temperature of 1470°C obtained for the reference design with solid central graphite column. Then the maximum achievable thermal power, determined such that this criterion is still met, is used to compare different cases and designs.

Since the design with dynamic middle column showed inferior capabilities with respect to decay heat removal compared to the design with solid middle column, the further investigations concentrate on the latter. This design, denoted as case II in the following, is compared to a design with cylindrical core (case I). The core diameter for the cylindrical case is set to 3 m. In order to keep the comparisons comprehensible, the cases used for comparison have been derived from the reference design presented, i.e. geometrical layout and calculation conditions have been kept the same. In a second investigation the diameter of the compact middle column is varied, while keeping all other parameters unchanged (outer diameter of the core is 3,7m).

The choice of the power conversion technology is also an important factor which affects the overall economical and technical performance of a HTR. Currently, either the direct Brayton cycle (B) using a helium turbine or a classical Rankine cycle (R) with steam generator and steam turbine are discussed as options. For the present analyses, both options have been considered through different levels for inlet and outlet temperatures.

Table 4 summarises the results for the two cases that have been investigated. Significantly higher thermal powers can be realised with annular cores, since larger amounts of decay heat can be passively removed by heat conduction. This is mainly due to geometrical effects. Heat storage effects of the inner column also have an influence on the maximum fuel temperature by increasing the time at which this temperature is reached. This can also inferred from Table 5, showing that the decay power that can be removed with maximum temperature is practically the same for the different initial conditions (i.e. Rankine and Brayton) and characteristic for a given geometrical layout.

The results on attainable power rather should not be interpreted as absolute figures, also with respect to the simplifying assumptions which have been chosen to rather support comparison of different options relative to each other. E.g. the assumed radial power profile could lead to an underestimation of the maximum fuel temperature and thus to an overestimation of the attainable thermal power. On the other hand, the conclusion on achievable power increase going from cylindrical towards thinner annular cores would be even more pronounced taking into account actual radial power profiles.

Work Package:	3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task: 3.2.	3	Document type: Deliverable	

Table 4: Major design parameters and maximum achievable thermal power for different reactor designs considered for the comparison

Design		Ι			
Core height [m]	1	1	11		
Inner core diameter [m]		-	2		
Outer core diameter [m]	3	3	3.7		
RPV outer diameter [m]	5.	.7	6	.4	
Variant	Brayton	Rankine	Brayton	Rankine	
Inlet temperature [°C]	500	250	500	250	
Outlet temperature [°C]	900	750	900	750	
Thermal power [MW]	220	250	425	464	
Mean power density	2.83	3.21	5.07	5.54	
[MW/m <sup>3</sup> ]					
Helium mass flow rate	105.9	96.24	204.5	178.6	
[Kg/s]					
Pressure drop over the core [bar]	1.27	0.84	3.55	2.18	



Fig. 21: Thermal power versus diameter of the middle column

Work Pack	age:	3	HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

Case	I/B	I/R	II/B	II/R
	220MW	250MW	425MW	464MW
Power removed at	1.01	1.07	1.59	1.62
max. temp. [MW]				
Time corresponding	29	38	61	77
to max. temp. [h]				

The potential for optimisation of the diameter of the compact middle column is indicated by the results in Fig. 21. From this diagram it can be seen, that for small diameters up to 1 m on average 6.1 MW additional power can be produced per 10 cm increase of the diameter of the middle column. For higher values this amount is doubled, giving 12.7 MW additional power per 10 cm. However, increasing the diameter of the middle column has of course technical limits and side effects, which finally may cancel the merits.

Such technical limits are also touched with respect to the pressure drop over the core. The higher power that can be achieved with the annular core designs requires larger helium mass flow rates and thus leads to larger pressure losses, which means that major technical difficulty are met in the annular core designs with higher power. E.g. in the cases with Rankine cycle the well proven single-stage blower technology, as used in the major HTR reactors and projects, can not be used (the pressure drop over the hole primary cycle is limited for this technology to 1.3 bar). In the Brayton cycle, turbo compressors are used to compensate the pressure drop and thus higher values are manageable. On the other hand, with too high pressure drop the leak flows increase heavily and can deteriorate the performance of the reactor.

HTR-N	Work Pac	Package: 3		HTR-N project document No.: HTR-N-04.06-D-3.2.3	Rev.
	Task:	3.2.3		Document type: Deliverable	

# 5. The temperature of structures and their impact on the design performance

Although the fuel temperature remains within prefixed limits during the DLOCA accident the reference design can not considered as optimum in terms of inherent safety. The mechanical stability of the Reactor Pressure Vessel e.g. can no be guaranteed if it is expand to too high temperatures for a long time (Fig. 22). At this point a second safety criterion is needed.

This criterion can in a first attempt be defined within the same philosophy (simplicity and grade) as the criterion for the fuel temperature. The optimisation of design can be then made with respect to both criteria.

To further develop this idea, the reference design is taken as an example. As shown in Fig. 22 for the case with a thermal power of 425 MW, the temperature of the RPV reaches during DLOCA values, which could not be considered as harmless anymore (maximum 450 °C). If now a limit for this temperature is fixed at 380 °C, in the meaning that value under this limit are safe, the reactor has to be redesigned under consideration of both limits.



Fig. 22: Comparison of maximum fuel temperature (left) and maximum RPV temperature (right) versus time for the reference geometry cases and for the case with optimised insulation

An evident manner to do it is to reduce the power until both temperatures remain under the limits. The producible power in this case for the geometry is about 270 MW. At this point the maximal temperature of the RPV is just below the limit but the fuel temperature far below the limit.

If further the thickness of thermal insulation between outer reflector and the core barrel is varied, there is a point where both maximal temperatures are exactly within the limits. In this case the producible power is around 390 MW. The thickness of the carbon blocks insulation is then 0.5 m instead of 0.15 m in the original case. In this case an RPV with a diameter of 7.1 instead of 6.4 m is required, which represents a major technological challenge.



## 6. Conclusions

In this paper the behaviour of different design options for the modular pebble bed HTR during loss of forced cooling accidents is analysed. It is shown, that if properly designed, the modular pebble bed HTR can be considered as inherent safe in the sense that the maximal fuel temperature never exceed limits during both pressurised and depressurised loss of coolant accidents.

The potential to maximise the thermal power with annular core designs while keeping the safety features is investigated. Particularly, the potential of producing more power by increasing the diameter of the middle column is quantified. Additional technical complexities anticipated if this potential is tapped are mentioned and discussed.

Finally, it is investigated how the performance of a design is affected if an other safety criterion in addition to the maximal accident temperature of the fuel, e.g. the maximal accident temperature of the RPV, is included in the optimisation.

The increase of core height will be limited by the pressure drop in core and by Xe oscillations which excite power profiles which can lead to high operational fuel temperatures.

If the technical feasibility of solid inner columns is investigated in detail, such cores can lead to comparable high power of up to 400 MW without loss of the main inherent safety features.



### 7. References

- [1] C. Goetzmann, Low specific capital cost: the design problem of small reactors, Nucl. Eng. Design 109, 1988
- [2] G. Lohnert, Technical design features and essential safety-related properties of the HTR-MODULE, Nucl. Eng. Design 121, 1990
- [3] A. Koster, H. D. Matzner and D. R. Nicholsi, PBMR design for the future, Nucl. Eng. Design 222, 2003
- [4] K. Petersen, Zur Sicherheitskonzeption des Hochtemperaturreaktors mit natürlicher Wärmeleitung aus dem Kern im Störfall, Forschungszentrum Jülich Jül-1872, 1983
- [5] W. Feltes HTR-Programmbeschreibung Zirkus. Siemens Report Nr. KWU BT71/93/0009/17. 2. 1993
- [6] T. Rieger, et. Al.: A Documentation of FRECON Code Simulating 2D/Single Phase Natural Convection Flows in Complex Solid Structures. IKE 2-112, August (1994)
- [7] K. W. Childs: HEATING 7.2 User's Manual ORNL NUREG/CSD-2/R6, Vol. 2 (2000)
- [8] J-T West et. Al: MORSE-SGC for the SCALE-System. ORNL NUREG/ CSD-2/V2 R2/ (1984)
- [9] D. F. Hollenbach, N.M. Petrie, L.F. Landers: KENO-VI: a general quadratic version of KENO program. ORNL NUREG/CSD-2/R6, Vol. 2/Sect. 17 Sept 1999
- [10] J. F. Briesmeister, Editor, "MCNP -- A General Monte Carlo N-Particle Transport Code", Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-12625-M (March, 1997)
- [11] P. Wälti, P. Koch: MICROX A Two-Region Flux Spectrum Code for the Efficient Calculation of Group Cross-Sections. Gulf GA-A10827 (1972)
- [12] J. Lieberoth, A. Stojadinovic: Neutron Streaming in Pebble Beds, NSE 76, 336-344 (1980)
- [13] J. Lieberoth: An approximation of finite-difference methods for diffusion problems by a coarse-mesh method. Atomkernenergie Bd. 30 (1977)
- [14] W. Feltes, T. Kindt: Berechnung der räumlichen Verteilung der Nachzerfallsleistung auf Basis der DIN-Norm 25 485
- [15] H. Reutler, G. Lohnert:Der modulare HTR- Ein neues Konzept f
  ür den Kugelhaufenreaktor. Atomwirtschaft 27 (1982)
- [16] N. Kohtz and H. Haque, Meeting fuel temperature limits in an HTR-MODULE Reactor during depressurized core heat-up, Nucl. Eng. Desig. 137, 1992
- [17] P. Zehner and E.U. Schlünder, Einfluss der Wärmestrahlung und des Druckes auf den Wärmetransport in nicht durchströmten Schüttungen, Chemie-Ing.-Tech. 44, 1972
- [18] T. Kindt and H. Hauque, Recriticality of the HTR-Module Power Reactor after hypothetical accidents, Nuc. Eng. Des. 137, 1992, 107-114
- [19] A. Walter, A. Schulz and G. Lohnert, Comparison of two Models for a Pebble Bed Modular Reactor core coupled to a Brayton Cycle, This Conference.
- [20] T. Rademer, W. Bernnat and G. Lohnert, Coupling of Neutronics and Thermal-Hydraulics Codes for the Simulation of Transients of Pebble Bed HTR Reactors, This Conference.